S202724

NO. 1

2nd

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

**THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA,**

Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

BOBBY CHIU,

Defendants and Appellants.

CASE NO.

DCA CASE NO. C063913

Sacramento County

Case No. 03F08566

**SUPREME COURT
FILED**

JUN - 4 2012

Frederick K. Ohrich Clerk

Deputy

PETITION FOR REVIEW

**AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL
THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT
FILED MAY 23, 2012**

**SCOTT CONCKLIN [105090]
Attorney at Law
2205 Hilltop Drive, No. PMB-116
Redding, California 96002
(530) 243-8510**

**Attorney for Appellant
Appointed by the Court of Appeal**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

On April 11, 2005, an amended information was filed in Sacramento Superior Court, charging appellant and a co-defendant with the murder of Roberto Treadway, in violation of Penal Code section 187, subdivision (a). It was further alleged that the crime was committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, and in association with a criminal street gang, to wit "HOP SING," with the specific intent to promote, further and assist in criminal conduct by gang members, pursuant to Penal Code section 186.22, subdivisions (b)(1) and (b)(5). It was further alleged that a principal in the offense intentionally discharged and personally used a firearm, and proximately caused great bodily injury as defined by Penal Code section 12022.7, in violation of Penal Code section 12022.53, subdivisions (b)(c)(d) and (e)(1). (1 Supp. CT 29-30.)

On June 20, 2005, following trial by jury, appellant was convicted of first degree murder and the special allegations were sustained. On July 29, 2005, appellant was sentenced to a term of 25 years to life for first degree murder with a consecutive term of 25 years to life for the firearm enhancement. (1 Supp. CT 31-32.)

On November 12, 2008, the judgment was reversed and remanded for new trial, except for the firearm use enhancement, which was reversed for insufficient evidence with retrial barred. (1CT 10-53.)

On August 26, 2009, the information was orally amended by striking the firearm use allegation and replacing it with an allegation alleging that in the commission and attempted commission of the offense, a principal in said offense was armed with a firearm, to wit, a handgun, said arming not being an element of the above offense, within the meaning of Penal Code Section 12022, subdivision (a)(1). (1RT 17; 10CT 2842.)

On October 27, 2009, following trial by jury appellant was convicted of first degree murder and the special allegations were sustained. On December 11, 2009, appellant was sentenced to a term of 25 years to life for first degree murder with a consecutive term of one year for the firearm enhancement. (10CT 2957-2958.)

On December 29, 2009, appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. (10CT 2965.)

On May 23, 2012 the Court of Appeal filed a decision affirming the judgment. A petition for rehearing was denied.

B. SUMMARY STATEMENT OF FACTS.

On September 30, 2003, a brawl erupted in front of Famous Pizza, which is near McClatchy High School in Sacramento. The brawl began when appellant (who was 16 years old at the time) and another high school boy (Antonio Gonzales) challenged each other to a fist fight. Appellant's friends (who were allegedly members of the Hop Sing gang) stood beside appellant. Gonzales's friends (who were allegedly Norteno gang members) backed up Gonzales. When appellant and Gonzales started fighting, a massive brawl erupted between the two groups, with mostly Asians on one side fighting Hispanics on the other.

During the brawl, Rickie Che (who was alleged to be a Hop Sing member fighting on appellant's side) went back to his car to get a gun. Many of the fighters scattered when he returned to the brawl and brandished the gun. Che took aim at Roberto Treadway, who was in retreat, and shot him. Treadway was killed.

A witness from appellant's high school testified that appellant told him earlier that morning that he had a friend with a gun who would shoot it if he was pressured.

A more detailed statement of facts is presented in the Opinion of the Court of Appeal (Slip Opinion at pp. 2-5) along with additional facts presented in Appellant's Petition for Rehearing, pursuant to Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2).¹ A statement of facts is also set forth in greater detail is set forth in Appellant's Opening Brief (AOB, at pp. 3-17.)

¹ "A party may petition for review without petitioning for rehearing in the Court of Appeal, but as a policy matter the Supreme Court normally will accept the Court of Appeal opinion's statement of the issues and facts unless the party has called the Court of Appeal's attention to any alleged omission or misstatement of an issue or fact in a petition for rehearing." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2); see also *People v. Cage* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 965, 971, fn. 2; *People v. Hernandez* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1040, 1045.)

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. MAY A CLAIM OF RACIALLY PREJUDICIAL PROSECUTION BE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL?

2. WHEN IS IT PERMISSIBLE FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO INVESTIGATE POSSIBLE JUROR MISCONDUCT DURING DELIBERATIONS? MAY THE TRIAL COURT INVESTIGATE SUSPICIONS OF JUROR MISCONDUCT DURING DELIBERATIONS WITHOUT FIRST FINDING PRIMA FACIE EVIDENCE OF MISCONDUCT?

3. IN REVIEWING THE REMOVAL OF A HOLDOUT JUROR, DOES THE "DEMONSTRABLE REALITY" STANDARD REQUIRE A STRONGER EVIDENTIARY SHOWING THAN MERE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE?

4. WHEN A HOLDOUT JUROR IS REMOVED AFTER A DEADLOCKED JURY REPORTS A STALEMATE, IS IT REASONABLE TO BELIEVE THAT ENTRANCED JURORS CAN BEGIN DELIBERATIONS ANEW AFTER AN ALTERNATE IS SEATED, OR DOES THAT SITUATION COMPEL A MISTRIAL?

5. IS THE "EQUALLY GUILTY" LANGUAGE OF CALCRIM NO. 400 A GENERALLY CORRECT STATEMENT OF LAW (MEANING THAT AN OBJECTION IS NECESSARY IN THE TRIAL COURT TO PRESERVE A CHALLENGE TO THE INSTRUCTION) OR IS IT A GENERALLY INCORRECT STATEMENT OF LAW (MEANING THAT IT CAN BE CHALLENGED ON APPEAL WITHOUT AN OBJECTION IN THE TRIAL COURT)?

6. PRESERVATION OF OTHER FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS.

A. AN IMPROPER INVESTIGATION AND ERRONEOUS REMOVAL OF HOLDOUT JUROR DENIED APPELLANT DUE PROCESS AND THE RIGHT TO UNANIMOUS JURY VERDICT

B. VIOLATION OF THE RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL

C. BECAUSE THE PROSECUTION WAS INTERLACED WITH RACIAL AND ETHNIC PREJUDICE, THE CONVICTION MUST BE REVERSED FOR VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS.

- D. THE INSTRUCTION ON THE NATURAL AND PROBABLE CONSEQUENCE THEORY ERRONEOUSLY PERMITTED THE JURY TO CONVICT APPELLANT OF MURDER BASED ON DIRECT RATHER THAN INDIRECT GUILT OF A TARGET OFFENSE
- E. BECAUSE AN AIDER AND ABETTOR CAN BE CONVICTED OF A LESSER OFFENSE THAN THE PERPETRATOR, IT WAS ERROR TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT AN AIDER AND ABETTOR IS "EQUALLY GUILTY" OF THE CRIME COMMITTED BY THE PERPETRATOR.
- F. BECAUSE APPELLANT WAS NOT ENGAGED IN "MUTUAL COMBAT" AT THE TIME THAT HE EXERCISED HIS RIGHT OF SELF DEFENSE, THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY THAT THE RIGHT OF SELF-DEFENSE IS NOT AVAILABLE
- G. ERROR TO GIVE CALCRIM NO. 373 AND SPECIAL INSTRUCTION.
- H. FAILURE TO GIVE ACCOMPLICE INSTRUCTIONS APPLICABLE TO ALL WITNESSES WHO PARTICIPATED IN THE BREACH OF PEACE.
- I. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Appellant is of Chinese descent. He was accused of being a member of Hop Sing, a gang with a membership comprised mostly of Chinese-Americans. The charged offense stemmed from a brawl between Asians on one side and Hispanics on the other. Racial and ethnic stereotyping played a key role in the prosecutor's case, which asserted that Asian gangs are more violent and are more prone to use guns than other gangs, and that Chinese gangs are more "criminally sophisticated" than gangs of other races and ethnicities. Hispanics gangs, on the other hand, were portrayed as clueless and unsophisticated, concerned only with "stupid machismo." The prosecutor used these stereotypes to portray the brawl as an assault by "criminally sophisticated" Chinese gangsters taking advantage clueless Nortenos. The People's theory was that appellant masterminded the fight and the ultimate homicide because, being a "criminally sophisticated" Chinese gang member, he was able to manipulate the "stupid machismo" of the clueless Hispanics to goad them into fighting, which gave

I. MAY A CLAIM OF RACIALLY PREJUDICIAL PROSECUTION BE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL?

ARGUMENT

Review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and/or to settle an important question of law (California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1)), and to preserve a claim that the decision of the Court of Appeal was based on an objectively unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the evidence presented in the state court proceeding (28 U.S.C. § 2254, subd. (d)(2); *Miller-El v. Cockrell* (2003) 537 U.S. 322, 123) and/or was contrary to, or involved an unreasonable application of, clearly established federal law as determined by the governing legal principles set forth by the United States Supreme Court. (*Lockyer v. Andrade* (2003) 538 U.S. 63; *O'Sullivan v. Boerckel* (1999) 526 U.S. 838 .)

NECESSITY FOR REVIEW.

2 Because the Court of Appeal decision does not recount the facts underlying appellant's claim, appellant filed Petition for Rehearing pursuant to Rule 8.500(c)(2), so that those facts can be considered in this Petition. Those facts are summarized as follows:

In the opening statement, the prosecutor referred to Asians as having "cultures that are vastly longer *than ours*" and their "histories are richer and different values," and "what we're going to do is talk about a gang that's based on *ethnicity*;" (1RT 141, emphasis added.) He described Sacramento's Hop Sing gang as "borne out of San Francisco, the Hop Sing Tong, and its values in an orderly secretive society;" (1RT 141.) "[T]hese Hop Sing members are all second generation. Their *parents were from China* for the most part ... They have a term for people who are themselves from China that are that age. They call them *fresh off the boats*;" (1RT 162, emphasis added.)

The prosecution gang expert testified that Chinese and Vietnamese gangs operate with a high level of "criminal sophistication." (4RT 954.) Gangs from other ethnic groups, including Hmong and Hispanics, on the other hand, were described as far less sophisticated, concerned mostly with "stupid machesemo." (4RT 954, 978, 979.) Another prosecution gang expert testified that it is very common to find gunfire amongst Asian gangs. (4RT 1060.)

In the People's summation, the prosecutor made repeated references to the "world of Asian gangs" and how certain Asians had an "Asian gang mindset," and he spoke of the threat of "Asian gang warfare." (6RT 1565, 1587, 1595.)

The prosecutor told jurors that "Asian gangs are in this point in time in Sacramento very violent gangs who shoot people;" (6RT 1565, emphasis added.) "Asian gangs are violent. I don't have to have some expert say that. It is just a fact. All right. When you look at all the facts and circumstances, the context, *Asian gangs are violent*. That's just a fact. Okay;" (6RT 1599, emphasis added.)

He said that "the first generation Chinese are good fighters." (6RT 1568.) He repeatedly described immigrants from China as "fresh off the boat" or "FOBS." He repeated the slur ten times during the trial, including twice in the opening statement (1RT 162), thrice during testimony (2RT 420, 472), and four times in summation. (6RT 1568, 1588, 1607.)

He called appellant and his friends "atheists." (6RT 1612.) He criticized them for

Rickie Che an excuse to kill one of them. Appellant was said to be responsible for the murder on a natural and probable consequence theory, because Rickie Che was an "Asian gang" member and "Asian gangs are violent," they "shoot people." That made murder a foreseeable consequence of appellant's breach of peace.^{2/}

³ Because the Court of Appeal opinion does not identify all of the arguments that appellant raised against forfeiture, appellant filed a Petition for Rehearing pursuant to Rule 8.500(c)(2) so that those issue can be raised in this Petition.

dressing like “preppy Asians” and for trying to look like “nerds or preppy Asians playing video games,” and urged the jury to take offense at their attempt to hide behind an innocuous Asian stereotype. (6RT 1607.)

“The Constitution prohibits racially-biased prosecutorial arguments.” (*McCleskey v. Kemp* (1987) 481 U.S. 279, 309, fn. 30, citing *Donnelly v. DeChristoforo* (1974) 416 U.S. 637, 643.) Racial prejudice poses a “serious threat to objective deliberation by jurors.” (*People v. Bain* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 839, 849.) “Prosecutorial argument that includes racial references appealing to or likely to incite racial prejudice violates the due process and equal protection guarantees of the Fourteenth Amendment to the federal Constitution.” (*People v. Cudjoe* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 585, 625.)

The Court of Appeal declined to review this claim on the merits, finding that the claim was forfeited for failure to object below. (Slip Opinion, at pp. 13-15.) In so doing, the Court of Appeal necessarily rejected arguments in favor of hearing such a claim for the first time on appeal.^{3/} Appellant argued (1) that Standard 10.20 of the Standards of Judicial Administration creates a *sua sponte* duty to “prohibit others from engaging in conduct that exhibits bias, including but not limited to bias based on ... race [and] ethnicity ...” and to ensure that decisions are “not influenced by stereotypes or biases,” (2) that “the rule that an appellate court will not consider points not raised at trial does not apply to “[a] matter involving the public interest or the due administration of justice.” (9 Witkin, Cal. Procedure (3d ed. 1985) Appeal, § 315, p. 326), which includes the prohibition against the use of improper stereotypes and invidious bias in the courtroom, which is “[a] matter involving the public interest or

the due administration of justice.” (*Catchpole v. Brannon* (1995) 36 Cal.App.4th 237, 244 [claim of gender bias raised for first time on appeal].)

As this Court as stated: “A defendant is not precluded from raising for the first time on appeal a claim asserting the deprivation of certain fundamental, constitutional rights.” (*People v. Vera* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 269, 276; *People v. Belmares* (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 19, 27 [same]; *People v. Saunders* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 580; *People v. Bradford* (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 1390, 1411.) The right to a prosecution free of racial and ethnic prejudice is certainly a fundamental constitutional right. (*McCleskey v. Kemp, supra*, 481 U.S. 279, 309, fn. 30, citing *Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, supra*, 416 U.S. 637, 643.) Because racial prejudice poses a “serious threat to objective deliberation by jurors” (*People v. Bain, supra*, 5 Cal.3d 839, 849), and “can strongly compromise a juror’s impartiality,” (*People v. Cudjo, supra*, 6 Cal.4th pp. 625-626), a claim asserting racial prejudice challenges the fundamental fairness of the trial process. “A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process.” (*In re Murchison* (1955) 349 U.S. 133, 136.)

The fundamental right of equal protection is also involved. “Prosecutorial argument that includes racial references appealing to or likely to incite racial prejudice violates the due process and equal protection guarantees of the Fourteenth Amendment to the federal Constitution.” (*People v. Cudjo, supra*, 6 Cal.4th 585, 625.) An equal protection claim asserts a deprivation of a fundamental constitutional right that may be raised for the first time on appeal. (*Daria D. v. Superior Court* (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 606, 610, fn. 4 [citing *Vera*].)

Review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision. The decision of the Court of Appeal, declining review of this important issue based on forfeiture, is contrary to the authorities and decisions cited about.

immediate judicial scrutiny. The very act of questioning deliberating jurors about the to express themselves freely in the jury room if their mental processes are subject to such inquiries are conducted during deliberations. Jurors may be particularly reluctant post-verdict inquiries into the jurors' mental processes apply even more strongly when in. 17.) "Many of the policy considerations underlying the rule prohibiting

jurors' thought processes." (*Ibid*, citing *In re Hamilton* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 273, 294, the "privacy of jury deliberations by foreclosing intrusive inquiry into the sanctity of deliberations." (*People v. Cleveland* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 466, 475.) The law assures "California courts have recognized the need to protect the sanctity of jury

(Slip Opinion, at pp. 6-8.)

insufficient evidence of juror misconduct. The Court of Appeal rejected the claim. Appellant claimed on appeal that the inquiry was unwarranted because there was defense objection, the court conducted an inquiry into potential juror misconduct. between first degree and second degree murder due to "personal views." Over

The jury sent two notes to the court during deliberations that indicated a stalemate

2. WHEN IS IT PERMISSIBLE FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO INVESTIGATE POSSIBLE JUROR MISCONDUCT DURING DELIBERATIONS? MAY THE TRIAL COURT INVESTIGATE SUSPICIONS OF JUROR MISCONDUCT DURING DELIBERATIONS WITHOUT FIRST FINDING PRIMA FACIE EVIDENCE OF MISCONDUCT?

in a public courtroom must not be influenced by racial/ethnic stereotypes or biases should not be able to waive or forfeit the public's right to insist that decisions reached and stereotyping in a courtroom is an affront to the entire community, the parties parties should be able to waive or forfeit. Because the use of racial and ethnic bias concern, and is a right that belongs to the public, it is not something that individual that the elimination of bias in the administration of justice is a matter of public Review is also necessary to settle an important issue of constitutional law. Given

content of their deliberations could affect those deliberations.” (*People v. Cleveland, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 476.)

It is improper for the court to intrude upon the sanctity of jury deliberations with an investigation into juror misconduct while deliberations are underway unless there is “cogent evidence” of misconduct. (*Id.*, at p. 478, citing *People v. Johnson* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1183, 1255; see also *People v. Cowan* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 401, 508.)

“Once a trial court is put on notice that good cause to discharge a juror may exist, it is the court’s duty “to make whatever inquiry is reasonably necessary” to determine whether the juror should be discharged.” (*People v. Leonard* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1370, 1409.) But “a hearing is required only where the court possesses information which, *if proven to be true*, would constitute ‘good cause’ to doubt a juror’s ability to perform his duties and would justify his removal from the case.” (*People v. Cleveland, supra*, 25 Cal.4th 466, 478, emphasis added.) “[J]urors can be expected to disagree, even vehemently, and to attempt to persuade disagreeing fellow jurors by strenuous and sometimes heated means. To probe ... in the absence of considerably more cogent evidence of coercion, would “deprive the jury room of its inherent quality of free expression.”” (*People v. Johnson, supra*, 3 Cal.4th 1183, 1255.)

Appellant argued that the requirement that the court possess information which “if proven to be true” would warrant removal of a juror requires at least a *prima facie* showing of misconduct, which was absent in this case. The fact that the jury reported a “stalemate” in the first note is not evidence that any juror or jurors were guilty of misconduct. Of course, there is always a possibility that juror misconduct may be causing a stalemate, but mere disagreement does not warrant an intrusion into the jury’s deliberative process. (*People v. Cowan, supra*, 50 Cal.4th 401, 508.)

The second note added that the disagreement due to what the foreman termed “personal views.” The term “personal” does not suggest any form of juror

misconduct. A personal view is an individual view. "[U]ndoubtedly the verdict of the jury should represent the opinion of each individual juror." (*Allen v. United States* (1893) 150 U.S. 551, 501.) The opinions of individual jurors are obviously the personal views of individual jurors. The views expressed by jurors are necessarily personal because the jury system is "fundamentally human." (*People v. Riel* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 1153, 1219 [noting that jury system is fundamentally human].)

"Jurors are allowed to use their life experiences in performing their duties." (*People v. Garcia* (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 1321, 1339.) "Jurors bring to their deliberations knowledge and beliefs about general matters of law and fact that find their source in everyday life and experience." (*People v. Marshall* (1990) 50 Cal.3d 907, 950.) In fact, "[j]urors' views of the evidence...are necessarily informed by their life experiences, including their education and professional work." (*In re Malone* (1996) 12 Cal.4th 953, 963, emphasis added.) "Jurors cannot be expected to shed their backgrounds and experiences at the door of the deliberation room." (*People v. Fauber* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 792, 839; *People v. Yeoman* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 93, 162.) Instead, they are "expected to bring their individual backgrounds and experiences to bear on the deliberative process." (*People v. Pride* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 195, 268, emphasis added.)

Because jurors are permitted to rely on and express "personal views" in their deliberations, the reference to "personal views" did not suggest juror misconduct. On the contrary, in must be presumed that the jurors who relied on and expressed "personal views" did so in a lawful manner consistent with their instructions, for it is presumed that jurors are able to follow the court's instructions (*People v. Sanchez* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 834, 852), and that they did follow the instructions. (*People v. Bramit* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1221, 1247.)

The Court of Appeal found that "the 'personal views' note made it *plausible* there was a juror who was injecting his or her personal views in the case that were not based on the facts or law that would justify the removal of that juror from the case." (Slip Opinion, at p. 8, emphasis added.) The Court of Appeal also observed (1) that defense counsel's summation included an "inappropriate argument" urging sympathy for appellant and (2) a juror (who was unknown at the time) claimed to be sick. (Slip Opinion, at pp. 7-8.) Appellant respectfully contends that these additional factors did not establish a prima facie case for juror misconduct, because still, even if all these things "were proven to be true," they would not "constitute 'good cause' to doubt a juror's ability to perform his duties and would justify his removal from the case." (*People v. Cleveland, supra*, 25 Cal.4th 466, 478.)

Because the Court of Appeal found the court's investigation supported by a "plausible" claim of juror misconduct, rather than a prima facie case for juror misconduct, appellant contends that the decision of the Court of Appeal is contrary to existing decisions, and that review should be granted to secure uniformity of decision. Review should also be granted to settle an important issue of law. Given the intrusive nature of such an investigation, especially when it occurs after the jury announces a stalemate, such an investigation should be allowed only when there "cogent evidence" that amounts to a prima facie showing of juror misconduct. An investigation after the jury announces a stalemate threatens to skew the deliberative process by making hold-out juror think that they are in trouble with the judge for refusing to go along with the others, and it emboldens the majority because their views are not being questioned.

3. IN REVIEWING THE REMOVAL OF A HOLDOUT JUROR, DOES THE "DEMONSTRABLE REALITY" STANDARD REQUIRE A STRONGER EVIDENTIARY SHOWING THAN MERE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE?

The Court of Appeal upheld the removal of the hold-out juror because (1) "There was substantial evidence Juror No. 1 could not withstand pressure from the other jurors," and (2) "There was also substantial evidence Juror No. 1 was unable to follow the law." (Slip Opinion, at pp. 9-10.)

Penal Code section 1089 provides that when the court finds, upon a showing of good cause, that a juror is "unable to perform his duty," the court may discharge the juror. Good cause means that "a juror's inability to perform as a juror," "must appear in the record as a demonstrable reality." (*People v. Cleveland, supra*, 25 Cal.4th 466, 474.) "[T]he trial court has at most a limited discretion to determine that the facts show an inability to perform the functions of a juror, and that inability must appear in the record as a demonstrable reality." (*People v. Compton* (1971) 6 Cal.3d 55, 60.) The requirement of a "demonstrable reality" means that good cause to remove a juror cannot be found upon an ambiguous claim. "Before the juror may be removed, the ambiguity must be resolved by proof, and the court [is] not entitled to do so by presuming the worst." (*Ibid.*)

"Determining whether to discharge a juror because of the juror's conduct during deliberations is a delicate matter, especially when the alleged misconduct consists of statements made during deliberations." (*People v. Cleveland, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 327.) Removal of the sole holdout is an issue "at the heart of the trial process and must be meticulously scrutinized." (*United States v. Hernandez* (2d Cir. 1988) 862 F.2d 17, 23; *cert. denied* (1988) 489 U.S. 1032; *United States v. Thomas* (2d Cir. 1997) 116 F.3d 606, 624.)

"[D]ischarge of a juror who may be holding out in a defendant's favor raises the specter of the government coercing a guilty verdict by infringing on an accused's

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