# S202784

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

BOBBY CHIU,

Defendants and Appellants.

CASE NO.

DCA CASE NO. C063913

Sacramento County Case No. 03F08566

SUPREME COURT

JUN - 4 2012

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Debuty

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT FILED MAY 23, 2012

SCOTT CONCKLIN [105090] Attorney at Law 2205 Hilltop Drive, No. PMB-116 Redding, California 96002 (530) 243-8510

Attorney for Appellant
Appointed by the Court of Appeal

#

### ISSUE PRESENTED.

The People posit the following issue for review:

"In order for an aider and abettor to be convicted of first degree premeditated murder by application of the natural and probable consequences doctrine, must a premeditated murder have been a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the target offense, or is it sufficient that a murder would be reasonably foreseeable?"

### **STATEMENT**

## 1. Issue raised on appeal.

Appellant appealed his conviction for first degree murder by claim, *inter alia*, that the instructions on the natural and probable consequence doctrine failed to require that the jury find that the charged offense (first degree murder) was a natural and probable consequence of target offenses.

The natural and probable consequence instruction given in this case allowed the jury to convict appellant "murder" based on his guilt of simple assault or breach of peace. The instructions, however, did not require the jury to find that *first degree murder* was a natural and probable consequence of aiding and abetting target offenses. Instead, CALCRIM No. 403 required the jury to simply find that *murder* was the natural and probable consequence of a target offense, without specifying the degree. Once the jury made that finding, CALCRIM No. 521 directed jurors to determine the degree of the murder, not by asking whether first degree murder was a natural and probable consequence of aiding and abetting target offenses, but by examining whether the *perpetrator* was guilty of first degree murder, by acting willfully, deliberately, and with premeditation.

As appellant claimed on appeal, a non-killer cannot be convicted of first degree murder based on a natural and probable consequence theory unless the jury finds, as a matter of fact, that first degree murder is the natural and probable consequence of aiding and abetting target offense. Because these instructions gave the jury a route to convict appellant of first degree murder without finding that first degree murder is the natural and probable consequence of aiding and abetting target offense, the instructions were in error.

# 2. Court of Appeal decision.

The Court of Appeal agreed with appellant on this issue. Applying *People v. Woods* (1992) 8 Cal.App.4th 1570, 1586-1587 and *People v. Hart* (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 662, 673, the Court of Appeal held that:

"...the instructions were deficient because they failed to inform the jury it needed to decide whether first degree murder, rather than just 'murder,' was a natural and probable consequence of the target offense. The absence of such an instruction means that if the jury used the natural and probable consequences theory to return the first degree murder conviction, the jury necessarily convicted defendant of first degree murder simply because that was the degree of murder the jury found the perpetrator committed, and the jury never determined whether a reasonable person in defendant's position would have known that premeditated murder (*i.e.*, first degree murder) was likely to happen (if nothing unusual intervened) as a consequence of either target offense. Because this possibility exists, we must reverse defendant's first degree murder conviction." (Slip Opinion, at p. 21.)

# ARGUMENT OPPOSING PEOPLE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW A. NO NEED TO SECURE UNIFORMITY OF DECISION.

Respondent posits the following issue for review: "In order for an aider and abettor to be convicted of first degree premeditated murder by application of the natural and probable consequences doctrine, must a premeditated murder have been a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the target offense, or is it sufficient that a murder would be reasonably foreseeable?"

That question has already been answered in *People v. Prettyman* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 248, where this Court declared that "to impose liability under the natural and probable

consequence theory, the trier of fact *must find* ... the *offense committed* by the confederate was a natural and probable consequence of the target crime that the defendant aided and abetted." (*Id.* at p. 262, emphasis added.) "The *jury must decide* whether ... the offense committed by the confederate was a natural and probable consequence of the target crime(s) that the defendant encouraged or facilitated. Instructions describing each step in this process ensure proper application by the jury of the 'natural and probable consequences' doctrine." (*Id.* at p. 267, emphasis added.)

Here, the prosecution charged appellant with first degree murder, and urged a conviction on a natural and probable consequence theory. The prosecutor argued that the first degree murder committed by an accomplice should be charged to appellant because it was the natural and probable consequence of aiding and abetting an assault and/or breach of peace. Under that theory, "first degree murder" was "the offense committed" by the accomplice. Thus, as *Prettyman* requires, the jury should have been instructed to find that "the offense committed" (*i.e.*, first degree murder) "was a natural and probable consequence of the target crime that the defendant aided and abetted." (*Id.* at p. 262.)

An instruction directing the jury to find that simple "murder" is the natural and probable consequence of a target crime does not meet that requirement. The offense committed was "first degree murder," not just "murder." Because the prosecution sought to hold appellant liable for "first degree murder" on a natural and probable consequence theory, the jury should have been required to find that "first degree murder" was the natural and probable consequence of his actions. For the jury to find appellant guilty of "first degree murder" on that theory, it was not enough for the jury to find that simple "murder" was the natural and probable consequence of his actions. If appellant was to be found guilty of "first degree murder" on a natural and probable

consequence theory, the jury should have been instructed on the need to find that "first degree murder" was a natural and probable consequence.

In an attempt to demonstrate a need to secure uniformity of decision, the People identify an entirely different controversy in the case law. The People claim a conflict between *People v. Cummins* (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 667 and *People v. Hart*, *supra*, 176 Cal.App.4th 662. The People also suggest that review should be granted because a related issue is pending in *People v. Favor* (2010) 190 Cal.App.4th 770 [review granted March 16, 2011, case number S189317], where the issue on review is: "In order for an aider and abettor to be convicted of attempted willful, deliberate and premeditated murder by application of the natural and probable consequences doctrine, must a premeditated attempt to murder have been a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the target offense, or is it sufficient that an attempted murder would be reasonably foreseeable?"

The controversy that the People identify involves attempted murder as defined by Penal Code section 664, subdivision (a), which is an analytically different problem than the issue presented here. This is so because Penal Code section 664, subdivision (a), "does not create a greater degree of attempted murder, but rather constitutes a penalty provision..." (People v. Lee (2003) 31 Cal.4th 613, 404, citing People v. Bright (1996) 12 Cal.4th 652, 655-657.) Prettyman, which held that the jury must find that "the offense" committed by the confederate was a natural and probable consequence, does not necessarily compel the conclusion that the jury must likewise find that a "penalty provision" is a natural and probable consequence of a target offense. The resolution of that issue should no have a direct impact the resolution of this case.

First degree murder is not a "penalty provision" that elevates the penalty for murder. Nor is it correct to say that first degree murder and second degree murder are

merely different degrees of the crime of murder. First and second degree murder are considered different offenses, in that first degree murder is considered a greater offense and second degree murder a lesser included offense. (*People v. Prince* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1179, 1270.) *Prettyman* requires that the jury be instructed to find that "the offense committed" by the accomplice is a natural and probable consequence. When the People seek to use the natural and probable consequence doctrine to convict an aider and abettor of first degree murder based on a first degree murder committed by an accomplice, first degree murder is "the offense." The jury should be required to find that "the offense" of first degree murder is a natural and probable consequence. That concept is not controversial, nor is there any conflict in the case law on that point.

#### B. NO NEED TO SETTLE ISSUE OF LAW.

Because the People appear to be challenging settled law, there is no need to grant review to settle an issue of law. The point that the People challenge was settled in *Prettyman*, where this Court declared that "to impose liability under the natural and probable consequence theory, the trier of fact must find ... the offense committed by the confederate was a natural and probable consequence of the target crime that the defendant aided and abetted." (*People v. Prettyman, supra,* 14 Cal.4th 248, 262.)

The People claim that "the Third District's approach is a departure from this Court's jurisprudence regarding the doctrine of natural and probable consequences." (People's Petition for Review, p. 11.) The People emphasize that "the doctrine of natural and probable consequences is 'based on the recognition that 'aiders and abettors should be responsible for the *criminal harms* they have naturally, probably and foreseeably put in motion.' [Citation.]" (*Ibid*, citing *People v*. *Prettyman, supra*, 14 Cal.4th at p. 260.) Although the general policy behind the natural and probable consequence doctrine is hold the aider and abetter responsible for

"harm," application of the doctrine requires a finding that the "offense" was a natural and probable consequence. (*People v. Prettyman, supra,* 14 Cal.4th 248, 262, 267.)

The People also cite People v. Medina (2009) 46 Cal.4th 913, 920-927, to argue that "in examining whether a charged offense was reasonably foreseeable, this Court has not analyzed the foreseebility of the charged offense element-by-element." (*Ibid.*) Respondent concludes that: "This Court's approach, which focuses on whether the ultimate outcome was foreseeable, does not support the Third District's approach, which teases out a particular element of the charged offense and requires that the jury find that isolated element to be foreseeable." (People's Petition for Review, p. 11.) The issue in *Medina*, however, involved the sufficiency of the evidence and the operation of the substantial evidence rule. Medina did not address the issue of jury instructions, and it does Medina support the People's claim that the jury need not find that the elements of the nontarget offense are foreseeable. Again, according to Prettyman, the jury must be instructed to find that "the offense" committed by the accomplice is a natural and probable consequence. (People v. Prettyman, supra, 14 Cal.4th 248, 262, 267.) Because the elements of the offense define the offense, the jury must find that the charged offense was a natural and probable consequence, as defined by the elements of the offense. If the defendant is to be convicted of first degree premeditated murder, the jury should be required to find that the offense of first degree premeditated murder (as defined by the elements) was a natural and probable consequence. A finding that some lesser included offense (such as second degree murder) was foreseeable as a natural and probable consequence does not serve as a finding that a greater offense (such as first degree murder) is a natural and probable consequence.

### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth above, appellant requests that the People's Petition for Review be denied.